UNTTED -STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHEERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
wwv'.o-a

ANDY SOSA,
a/k/a “Sosa Gucci Prada,”
MICKEY VALDEZ,
a/k/a “Mikey,”
NELSON VERAS,
a/k/a “Monkey,”
a/k/a “Monkey White,”
QSCAR ALMANZAR,
a/k/a “Heavy,”
JIMMY KELLY,
AKBAR HUSSAIN,
a/k/a “ARK,”
DARWIN AYALA,

a/k/a “Fatulo,”
JOSHUEL RODRIGUEZ,
a/k/a “Alpa,”

MIGUEL CARELA,
a/k/a “Bone,”
a/k/a “Bonet,”

JUSTIN RAMIREZ,
a/k/a “E.T.,”

JAMES PAULINO,

LUCAS CHAJECKT,
a/k/a “Luc,”

OMAURIS CABRERA,
a/k/a “Oh Boy,”

EDWIN MERCEDES,
a/k/a “Mela,”
a/k/a “Melasas,”

CHRISTOPHER PEREZ,
a/k/a “Flaco,”

ARGENTIZ RODRIGUEZ,

ISMEAL VASQUEZ,
a/k/a “Ish,”

MICHAEL ALVARADO,
a/k/a “Dirt,”

JORGE ARTILES,

ARGENIE HENRIQUEZ,

a/k/a “Shysty.,”

Defendants.

SEALED

~ INDICTMENT

14 Cr.



COUNT ONE

The Grand Jury charges:

1. From at least in or about 2009, up to and including on
or about July 14, 2014, in the Southern Digstrict of New York and
elsewhere, ANDY SOSA, a/k/a “Sosa cucci Prada,” MICKEY VALDEZ,
a/k/a “Mikey,” NELSON VERAS, a/k/a “Monkey,” a/k/a “Monkey
White,” OSCAR ALMANZAR, a/k/a “Heavy,” JiMMY KELLY, BKBAR
HUSSAIN, a/k/a “AK,” DARWIN AYALA, a/k/a “patulo,” JOSHUEL
RODRIGUEZ, a/k/a “Alpa,” MIGUEL CARELA, a/k/a “Bone,” a/k/a‘
“Bonet,” JUSTIN RAMIREZ, a/k/a @ T.,” - JBMES PAULING, IUCAS
CHAJECKI, a/k/a “Luc,” OMAGRIS CABRERA, a/k/a “Ch Roy,” EDWIN
MERCEDES, a/k/a *Mela,” a/k/a “Melasas,” CHRISTOPHER PEREZ,
a/k/a “Flaco,” ARGENIS RODRIGUEZ, ISMEAL VASQUREZ , a/k/a “Ish,”
MICHAEL ALVARADO, a/k/a wpirt,” JORGE ARTILES, and ARGENIS
HENRIQUEZ, a/k/a “Shysty,” the defendants, and others known and
unknown, intentionally and knowingly did combine, conspire,
confederate, and agree together and with each other to violate
+he narcotics laws of the United States. |

2. It was a part and an object of the conspiracy that
ANDY SOSA, a/k/a “Sosa Guccl Prada,” MICKEY VALDEZ, a/k/a
“Mikey,” NELSON VERAS, a/k/a “Monkey.,” a/k/a “Monkey White,"”
OSCAR ALMANZAR, a/k/a “Heavy,” JIMMY KELLY, AKBAR HUSSAIN, a/k/a
“AK," DARWIN AYALA, a/k/a sFatulo,” JOSHUEL RODRIGUEZ, a/k/a

“Alpa,” MIGUEL CARELA, a/k/a “Bone,” a/k/a “Bonet,” JUSTIN



RAMIREZ, a/k/a “E.T.,7 JAMES PAULINO, LUCAS CHAJECKI, a/k/a
sTuc,” OMAURIS CABRERA, a/k/a “Oh Boy,” EDWIN MERCEDES, a/k/a
vMela,” a/k/a “Melasas,” CHRISTOPHER PEREZ, a/k/a “Flaco,”
ARGENIS RODRIGUEZ, ISMEAL VALSQUEZ, a/k/a “Ish,” MICHAEL
ALVARADO, a/k/a “Dirt,” JORGE ARTILES, and ARGENIS HENRIQURZ,
a/k/a “Shysty,” +he defendants, and others known and unknown,
would and did distribute and possess with intent to distribute a
controlled substance in violation of 21 U.S.C. & 841(a)(1).

3. The controlled substances that ANDY SOSA, a/k/a “Sosa
Gucci Prada,” MICKEY VALDEZ, a/k/a .“Mikey,” NELSON VERAS, a/k/a
“Monkey, ” a/k/a “Monkey White,” OSCAR ALMANZAR, a/k/a “Heavy,”
JIMMY KELLY, AKBAR HUSSAIN, a/k/a “AX,” DARWIN BYALA, a/k/a
“Fatulo,” JOSHUEL RODRIGUEZ, a/k/a “Alpa,” MIGUEL CARELA, a/k/a
“Bone,” a/k/a “Bonet,” JUSTIN RAMIREZ, a/k/a “E.T.,” JRMES
PAULINO, LUCAS CHAJECKI, a/k/a “Luc,” OMAURIS CABRERA, a/k/a “Oh
Boy,” EDWIN MERCEDES, a/k/a “Mela,” a/k/a “Melasas,” CHRISTOPHER
PEREZ, a/k/a “Flaco,” ARGENIS RODRIGUEZ, ISMEAL VASQUEZ, a/k/a
“Tgh,” MICHAEL ALVARADO, a/k/a “Dirt,” JORGE ARTILES, and
ARGENIS HENRIQUEZ, a/k/a “Shysty,” the defendants, conspired to
aistribute and possess with the intent to distribute were: (a) 5
kilograms and more of mixtures and substances containing a
detectable amount of cocaine, its salts, optical and geometric
igsomers, and salts of isomers, in violation of 21 7.8.C.

g 841 (b) (1) (A); (2) 280 grams and more of mixtures and



substances containing a detectable amount of cocaine base, in a
form commonly known as rerack,” in violation of 21 U.S8.C.

s 841 (b) (1) {n); (3) 1 kilogram and more of mixtures and
substances containing a detectable amount of heroin, in
violation of 21 U.8.C. § 841{b)(1)(A); (4) 50 kilograms and more
of marijuana, in violation of 21 U.8.C. § g4l (b) (1} (C); (5) a
quantity of mixtures and substances containing oxycodone, a
Schedule TT controlled substance, in violation of 21 U.S.C.

8§ ééi(b){l)(c); and (6) a quantity of mixtures and substances
containing suboxone, a Schedule IIT controllied substance, in
violation of 21 U.S.C. § 841 (b) (1) (E) .

MEANS AND METHODS OF THE CONSPIRACY

4. At all times relevant tO this Indictment, a criminal
oiganization xnown as the “Trinitarios” (the “Trinitafios" or
the “Gang”)}, comprised primarily of individuals of Dominican
degcent, wag operating in, among other locations, the Fordham
and Kingsbridge neighborhoods of the Bromx, New York. The
Trinitarios operating in these neighhorhoo&s during this time
period were members of two related wgets,” or factions of the
Gang, called the w18 Treys” and wGreenbridge.” Members of the
18 Treys and Greenbridge sets, and their associates, committed
acts of violence, such as shootings, agalnst rival gangs ~ such

as the “Eden Boys” gang - in order to protect their drug-



trafficking operation, and to protect fellow members and
associates of the Trinitarios.

5. During all of part of the period relevant to this
Indictment, members and agsociates of the 18 Treys and
Greenbridge sets controlled drug tfafficking in the Fordham and
Kingsbridge neighborhoods of the Bronx. ANDY SOSA, a/k/a QSosa
cucei Prada,” and NELSON VERAS, a/k/a “Monkey,” a/k/a “Monkey
White,” the defendants, were 1jeaders of the Trinitarios inn these
neighborhoods. MICKEY VALDEZ, a/k/a “Mikey,” the defendant, was
one of the shooters on behalf of the Gang, enforcing the Gang's
control over these neighborhoods, as well as the Gang's drug
trafficking, through violence.

OVERT ACTS

5. In furtherance of thé conspiracy and to effect the
illeéal objects thereof, the following overt acts, among others,
were committed in the Southern District of New York and
elsewhere:

a. From at least on or about May 7, 2014, up to and
inciuding on or about June 24, 2014, ANDY sosa, a/k/a “Sosa
Gucci Prada,” the defendant, aold a co-congpirator not naned in
this Indictment (“CC-1")} approximately 250 grams of heroin in
the Bronx, New York, including 80 grams of heroin on May 15,

2014.



b. on or about October 20, 2010, MICKEY VALDEZ,
a/k/a “Mikey,” the defendant, sold a quantity of crack to an
undercover police officer (2uCc-17) in the vicinity of West 183*
gtreet in the Bronx, New York.

o, On or about May 19, 2014, NELSON VERAS, é/k/a
“Monkey,” a/k/a “Monkey White,” the defendant, sold
approximately 9 glassine bags of heroin to an undercover police
officer {(*UC-2") dn the vicinity of Webb Avenue in the Bronx,
New York.

d. On or about December 22, 2013, OSCAR ALMANZAR,
a/k/a “Heavy,” the defendant, possessed 20 bags of ¢rack in the
vicinity of Aqueduct Avenue in the Bronx, New York.

e, on or about January 29, 2013, JIMMY KELLY, the
defendant, possessed approximately 55 glassine bags of heroin in
the vicinity of Audobon Avenue in New York, New York.

£ on or about December 15, 2013, AKBAR HUSSEIN,
a/k/a “AK,” the defendant, sent a texi message tolosCAR
ALMANZAR, the defendant, agreeing to sell ALMANZAR a quantity of
éuboxone.

G- on or about December 29, 2011, DARWIN AYALA,
a/k/a “Fatulo,” the defendant, possessed two bags of marijuana
in the vicini;y of West Kingsbridge Road in the Bronx, New quk.

h. Tn or about the Fall of 2011, JOSHUEL RODRIGUEZ,

a/k/a “Alpa,” the defendant, asked for and obtained a gun from a



co-conspirator not named in this Indictment (rcCc-27) in the
vicinity of Webb Avenue in the Bromnx, New York.

i. On or aboﬁt November 29, 2009, MIGUEL CARELA,
a/k/a “Bene,” a/k/a “Bonet,” the defendant, possessed a black
handgun in the vicinity of 180" Street and Anthony Avenue in the
Bronx, New York.

1. On or about June 29, 2014, JUSTIN RAMIREZ, a/k/a
“E.T.,” the defendant, possessed two handguns in the vicinity of
Fast Clarke Place in the Bronx, New York.

k. on or about June 20, 2011, JAMES PAULINO, the
defendant, =sold marijuana in the vicinity of Webb Avenue in the
Bronx, New York.

1. Oon or about June 11, 2013, LUCAS CHAJECKI, a/k/a
“Luc,” the defendant, sold a gquantity eof crack to an undercover
police officer (“UC-3") in the vicinity of West 1927 Street in
the Bronx, New York.

m. on or about January 9, 2013, OMAURIS CABRERA,
a/k/a “Oh Boy,” the defendant, sold a guantity of marijuana to
an undercover police officer (“UC-47) in the vicinity of
University Avenue in the Bronx, New York.

n. on or about April 30, 2014, EDWIN MERCEDES, a/k/a
“Mela,” a/k/a “Melasas,” the defendant, possessed a quantity of
cocaine and crack in the vicinity of Webster Avenue in the

Bronx, New York.



o. On or about May 19, 2014, CHRISTOPHER PEREZ,
a/k/a “Flaco,” the defendant, sold approximately 9 glassine bags
of heroin to UC-2 in the vicinity of Webb Avenue in the Bronx,
New York.

P- On or about May 13, 2014, ARGENIS RODRIGUEZ, the
defendant, possessed ap@roximately 60 bags of crack in the
vicinity of West Kingsbridge Road in the Bronx, New York.

Q. Oon or aboub November 11, 2010, ISMEAL-VASQUEZ,
a/k/a “Ish,” the defendant, attempted to gsell a guantity of
heroin in the vicinity of Grand Avenue in the Bronx, New York.

. On or about April 15, 2014, MICHAEL ALVARADO,
a/k/a "Dirt,” the defendant, sent a text message LO ARGENIS
RODRIGUEZ, the defendant, to arrange a sale of marijuaha.

. 8. | On or about October 8, 2013, JORGE ARTILES, the
defendant, sold approximately 11 bags of cocaine to UC-2.

t. On or about August 12, 2011, ARGENIS HENRIQUEZ,
a/k/a “Shysty,” the defendant, spoke by telephone to a co-
conspirator not named in this Indictment {("CC-3") to arrande a
marijuana sale.

(Title 21, United States Code, Section 846.)
COUNT TWO
The Grand Jury further charges:
7. From at least in or about 2009, up to and including on

or about July 14, 2014, in the Scuthern District of New York and



elsewhere, ANDY SO0SA, a/k/a “Sosa Gucci Prada,” MICKEY VALDEZ,
a/k/a “Mikey,” NELSON VERAS, a/k/a “Monkey,” a/k/a “Monkey
White,” JOSHUEL RODRIGUEZ, a/k/a “Alpa,” MIGUEL CARELA, a/k/a
“Bone,” a/k/a “Bonet,” and JUSTIN RAMIREZ, a/k/a “E.T.," the
defendants, during and in relation to a drug trafficking crime
for which they may be prosecuted in a court of the United
States, namely, the narcotics conspiracy charged in Count One of
this Indictment, knowingly did uge and carry firearms, and, in
furtherance of guch crime, did possesgs firearms, and did aid and
abet the use, carrying, and possession of firearms, which were
brandished and discharged.

(Title 18, United States Code, Section %924 (c) (1) (A) (diii).)

FORFEITURE ALLEGATION

8. As a result of committing the controlled substance
offense charged in Count One of this Indictment, ANDY SOSA,
a/k/a “Sosa Gucci Prada,” MICKEY VALDEZ, a/k/a “Mikey,” NELSON
VERAS, a/k/a “Monkey,” a/k/a “Monkey White{” OSCAR ALMANZAR,
a/k/a “Heavy,” JIMMY KELLY, AKBAR HUSSAIN, a/k/a “AK,” DARWIN
AYALA, a/k/a “Fatulo,” JOSHUEL RODRIGUEZ, a/k/a “Alpa,” MIGUEL
CARELA, a/k/a “Bone,” a/k/a “Bonet,” JUSTIN RAMIREZ, a/k/a
“E.T.,” JAMES PAULINO, LUCAS CHAJECKI, a/k/a “Luc,” OMAURIS
CABRERA, a/k/a “Oh Boy,” EDWIN MERCEDES, a/k/a “Mela,” a/k/a
“Melasasg,” CHRISTOPHER PEREZ, a/k/a “Flaco,” ARGENIS RODRIGUEZ,

ISMEAL VASQUEZ, a/k/a “Ish,” MICHARL ALVARADO, a/k/a “Dirxt,”



JORGE ARTILES, and ARGENIS HENRIQUEZ, a/k/a “Shysty,” tﬁe
defendants, shall forfgit to the United States, pursuant to
Title 21, United States Code, Section 853, any and all property
‘constituting or derived from any proceeds the defendant obtained
directly or indireétly as a result of the offense and ény and
all property used or intended to be used in any manner or part
to commit and to facilitate the commission of the offense
charged in Count One of this Indictment.

Substitute Assets Provigion

9. If any of the above-described forfeitable property, as
a result of any act or omission of ANDY SOSA, a/k/a “Sosa Gucci
Prada;” MICKEY VALDEZ, a/k/a “Mikey,” NELSON VERAS, a/k/a
*Monkey,” a/k/a “Monkey White,” OSCAR ALMANZAR, a/k/a “Heavy,”
JIMMY KELLY, AKBAR HUSSAIN, a/k/a “AK,” DARWIN AYALA, a/k/a
“Fatulo,” JOSHUEL RODRIGUEZ, a/k/a “Alpa,” MIGUEL CARELA, a/k/a
“Bone,” a/k/a “Bonet,” JUSTIN RAMIREZ, a/k/a “E.T.,” JAMES
PAULINO, LUCAS CHAJECKI, a/k/a “Luc,” OMAURIS CABRERA, a/k/a “Oh
Boy,” EDWIN MERCEDES, a/k/a “Mela,” a/k/a “Melasas,” CHRISTGPHER
PEREZ, a/k/a “Flaco,” ARGENIS RCODRIGUEZ, ISMEAL VASQUEZ, a/k/a
“Igh,” MICHAEL ALVARADO,. a/k/a “Dirt,” JORGE ARTILES, and
ARGENIS HENRIQUEZ, a/k/a “Shysty,” the defendants:

a. cannot be located upon the exercise of due

diligence;











